1983

State of Utah v. Timmy Hill : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with theft by deception, a second degree felony, in violation of UCA §76-6-405, in connection with the sale of an imitation controlled substance.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was convicted as charged in a jury trial on April 28, 1983, in the Second Judicial District Court, County of Weber, State of Utah, the Honorable John F. Wahlquist presiding.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of his conviction on the grounds as set forth in the following argument.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On Friday, December 10, 1982, pursuant to negotiations with several individuals, undercover Detective Jack Alexander of the Ogden City Police Department met with Timmy Hill with the intent of purchasing one ounce of cocaine for a price of \$2,100. Timmy met with Detective Alexander in a parked car, told him that he had one ounce of "good" cocaine and then completed the deal. Detective Alexander immediately placed Timmy under arrest. Timmy had one ounce of cocaine which he shared with distribution for value of an

imitation controlled substance in that it is prohibited by UCA §58-37b-4. At a later time, the state attorney, using the information, charged Timmy with theft by deception under UCA §76-6-405 instead of pursuing the charge under §58-37b-4. Counsel for defendant resisted this amendment, and on March 4, 1983, moved the District Court of Weber County to dismiss on the basis that Timmy was improperly charged. The court denied defendant's motion and Timmy was tried and convicted for violation of UCA §76-6-405.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS IMPROPERLY CHARGED UNDER A GENERAL THEFT STATUTE OF THEFT BY DECEPTION (UCA §76-6-405), WHEN A SPECIFIC DRUG STATUTE (UCA §58-37b-4) WOULD BE MORE APPLICABLE AND DIRECTLY CONTROLLING.

The Legislature has specifically provided that provisions of the Controlled Substances Act be controlling over conflicting provision of other state laws. UCA §58-37-19 provides in relevant part:

"Whenever the requirements prescribed, the offenses defined or the penalties imposed relating to substances controlled by this act shall be or appear to be in conflict with Title 58, Chapter 17 or any other laws of this state, the provisions of this act shall be controlling."

Any offense that is clearly included within the Controlled Substances Act, would therefore be governed by that Act, notwithstanding the fact that the offense could conceivably be construed to be a violation of a more general statute in the Criminal Code.

The recent Utah Supreme Court decision of State v. Hicken 100 P.2d 1638 (Utah 1983), discusses this issue and should govern the Court's ruling in this case. In that case, the defendant arranged a sale of marijuana. He was charged, however, with distribution for value in conjunction with UCA 1953 §76-2-202, by intentionally aiding another person to engage in that criminal conduct. The defendant's argument was that UCA §58-37-8(1) (a) (iv), arranging the sale of a controlled substance, spoke directly and specifically to the defendant's conduct and would be the proper statute under which the defendant should be charged. In holding that §76-2-202 did not apply, this Court asserted persuasively that the Controlled Substances Act exclusively governed conduct included within its parameters.

The question to be decided by this Court is whether UCA §58-37-19 would be applicable to a later enacted chapter of the Controlled Substances Act that of Title 58, Chapter 37(b), entitled the "Imitation Controlled Substances Act."

The logical application of §58-37-19 to Chapter 37(b), is indicated by several factors. First, §58-37b was enacted for the purpose of clarifying and specifying in some detail what would be considered an imitation controlled substance and to set a penalty for selling, distributing or manufacturing such substances for the purpose of substituting them for real controlled substances. The important fact in determining whether the "Imitation Controlled Substances Act" should be included as a controlling statute over conflicting or simultaneous statutes as specified in

§58-37-19 is that §58-37b replaces the language a "substantive material in lieu of the specific controlled substance..." previously stated in §58-37-8 (1) (a) (iv). This language replaced by §58-37b was clearly included as controlling over a general criminal statute. It is logical to assume that §58-37 then is also controlling.

Second, the "Imitation Controlled Substances Act" is extremely brief and refers to the Controlled Substances Act for its major definition. It contains none of the procedural sections that are contained in the parent statute which further implies that one should refer to §58-37 provisions.

Finally, the legislature inserted the "Imitation Controlled Substances Act" as §58-37b making it a sub-chapter to chapter 37 of the Controlled Substances Act.

Other considerations should likewise be examined in determining whether an offense should be prosecuted under Chapter 37(b) or the more general Criminal Code. In Helmuth v. Morris, 598 P.2d 333 (Utah 1979), this Court expressed its adherence to the common principle that when an individuals' conduct can be construed to be a violation of two conflicting statutes, the more specific statute will control over the more general. Additionally, the Court declared "that where two statutes interdict the same conduct, but impose different penalties, the violator is entitled to the lessor punishment." Id at 335. See also State v. Shondel, 453 P.2d 146 (UT 1969); People v. Gilbert, 462 P.2d 586 (Cal 1969.)

A final factor which this Court should consider is the general principle that a more recently enacted statute generally takes precedence over an earlier enacted statute.

The scope of the Imitation Controlled Substances Act by statutory language universally governs all conduct involving imitation controlled substances. UCA §58-37b-4 in relevant part states: "It is unlawful for any person to manufacture, distribute, or possess with intent to distribute, an imitation controlled substance." The Act does not directly speak to the issue of whether or not the transacting individuals have knowledge of the fact that it is imitation substance or not. In defining imitation controlled substance, the statute states,

"Imitation controlled substance means a substance that is not a controlled substance, which by overall dosage unit substantially resembles a specific controlled substance in appearance (such as color, shape, size, and markings), or by representation made, would cause a reasonable person to believe that the substance is a controlled substance." (UCA §58-37b-2(4), emphasis added.)

By enacting this statute, the Legislature doubtless was aware that it would be used not only in charging individuals who sold an imitation controlled substance to a buyer who knew or was told of its false nature, but also in charging individuals who sold imitation substances to unknowing buyers with the intent to deceptively steal their money.

The facts of the case on appeal present the Court with circumstances that would clearly fall within the intended scope of UCA §58-37b-4. The defendant sold to an undercover agent a substance which in appearance substantially resembled cocaine.

The defendant represented to the agent that the substance was cocaine. The defendant clearly distributed an imitation controlled substance as defined by statute. The appellant's conduct may well be a violation of the more general theft by deception statute §76-6-405 in that the defendant obtained control over the agent's money by deception. The gravamen of the defendant's appeal, however, is that his conduct is more specifically defined and proscribed by UCA §58-37b-4, that this statute is controlling, and therefore the defendant was improperly charged under the more general and non-controlling Criminal Code. The strength of appellant's contention that his conduct should be governed by the controlled substances act is further substantiated by the fact that the prosecution, initially charged the defendant with distribution of an imitation controlled substance under UCA §58-37b-4, only to amend the charge at a later point in time.