1983

State of Utah v. Timmy Hill : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with and convicted of Theft by Deception, a second-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (1978).

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried before a jury and found guilty of Theft by Deception on 28 April, 1983 in the Second Judicial District Court for Weber County, State of Utah, the Honorable John F. Wahlquist presiding. On 31 May 1983, the trial court sentenced appellant to an indeterminate term of not less than one year nor more than fifteen years. On 19 July 1983, the trial court ordered appellant's release from the Utah State Prison pending disposition of this appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks a judgment and order of this Court affirming the jury verdict and sentence of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On 10 December 1982, Jack Alexander, an Ogden City policeman on special assignment with the State of Utah Narcotic and Liquor Law Enforcement Bureau, and Frank, an informer, met with appellant, Timmy Hill, to arrange for the purchase of an ounce of cocaine (T. 66-71, 101, 116-117, 169). Detective Alexander had been introduced to Timmy Hill by Carolina Jones (T. 5, 19, 35, 115). Appellant and Detective Alexander settled on the price of \$2100 for an ounce of cocaine and agreed to meet at Carolina's house later that afternoon (T. 71, 117, 135).

Detective Alexander arrived at Carolina's house before appellant. When appellant arrived, he said he did not have the cocaine with him then, but asked to see Detective Alexander's money (T. 49, 79, 91, 93, 118-121). Appellant said he would return with the cocaine later in the afternoon, and told Detective Alexander to listen for a car's horn and to walk out to the car when he heard it (T. 80, 94, 52).

After the second meeting, appellant drove to a nearby store and obtained a box of baking soda and a "Big Nickel" newspaper with which he fashioned a package of white powder that resembled a package of cocaine (T. 119, 139). Appellant returned to Carolina's house about 5:20 that

afternoon (T. 21, 80). Detective Alexander went out to the car and sat in the back seat (T. 83). Appellant sat in the front passenger seat (T. 22, 140). Detective Alexander asked appellant if he had the cocaine and appellant responded in the affirmative (T. 81). Appellant opened the package he had fashioned, showed it to Detective Alexander and assured him that the purported cocaine was good stuff, but did not let Detective Alexander test it (T. 52, 84, 97, 104, 119-120). Appellant told Detective Alexander that the price was \$2100 (T. 84). He took the \$2100 Detective Alexander handed to him (T. 84, 86, 99) and gave Detective Alexander the purported cocaine (T. 120). After receiving the money, appellant apparently placed it on the console between the car's bucket seats (T. 23, 24, 89, 120). When the sale was completed, Detective Alexander signaled to other officers waiting nearby, and appellant was arrested (T. 84). Upon being arrested, appellant told the officers, "That's okay, that's okay. You ain't got shit on me, check the stuff out, sucker." (T. 87, 100). The purported cocaine appellant sold to Detective Alexander proved to be the baking soda appellant had purchased earlier in the afternoon (T. 84, 109).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY CHARGED AND CONVICTED OF THEFT BY DECEPTION BECAUSE THE IMITATION CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ACT PROVISION PROSCRIBING DISTRIBUTION OF IMITATION CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES DOES NOT APPLY TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

Appellant contends that he was improperly convicted of Theft by Deception under Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (1978), because his conduct was more specifically proscribed by Utah Code Ann. § 58-37b-4 (1983 Interim Supp.), Distribution of an Imitation Controlled Substance. Appellant relies on Hulmuth v. Morris, Utah, 598 P.2d 333, 335 (1979) and State v. Shondell, 22 Utah 2d 343, 453 P.2d 146, 148 (1969) for the principle that where a defendant's conduct may be considered to fall within the purview of two separate statutes, the statute which applies more specifically to the defendant's conduct takes precedence, and the rule that "where two statutes interdict the same conduct, but impose different penalties, the violator is entitled to the lesser punishment." Helmuth at 335 (footnote omitted).

"The fallacy in . . . [appellant's] argument is that the statute referred to does not prohibit the same conduct" as does § 76-6-405. Id. Utah Code Ann. § 58-37b-4 (1983 Interim Supp.) states:

It is unlawful for any person to manufacture, distribute, or possess with intent to distribute, an imitation controlled substance. Any person who violates this section shall be guilty of a class B misdemeanor and upon conviction may be imprisoned for a term not exceeding six months, fined not more than \$299, or both.

The Utah statute is nearly identical to Section 2.a. of the Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981).

As defined by Utah Code Ann. § 58-37b-2(4), an "imitation controlled substance" is

. . . a substance that is not a controlled substance, which by overall dosage unit substantially resembles a specific controlled substance in appearance (such as color, shape, size and markings), or by representations made, would cause a reasonable person to believe that the substance is a controlled substance.

Baking soda, the substance appellant sold to the undercover agent, is not an "imitation controlled substance" according to the Imitation Controlled Substances Act, and therefore, the Act does not proscribe appellant's conduct. The reasons for this become apparent upon examination of the Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981). That act is designed to control the manufacture, distribution and use of "look-alike" drugs.

Look-alikes are tablets and capsules which are manufactured and imprinted to closely resemble or even duplicate the appearance of well-known, brand name controlled substances, but which contain only non-controlled over-the-counter drugs such as caffeine, ephedrine,

phenylpropanolamine, acetaminophen, or some combination of these substances. Look-alikes are advertised as being body stimulants, alternative energy sources, or nighttime analgesics. . . .

Prefatory Note, Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981). In addition to tablets and capsules, powders and liquids may sometimes be "look-alike" drugs and thus "imitation controlled substances."

The portion of the DEA Model Act which deals with "representations made: by the seller [, § 58-37b-3 of the Utah Act,] is not really intended to reach look-alikes in tablet or capsule form, but rather, is intended to reach those cases where powder or liquid is represented to be controlled substances.

Comment, Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981). However, not all powders or liquids sold as substitutes for controlled substances are "imitation controlled substances."

DEA believes that many of the existing and draft State Acts which have sought to reach the look-alike problem have placed too much emphasis on the representations made by the seller of the substances. Hence, the DEA Model Act seeks to place emphasis on the "look-alike" nature of most of the substances involved to sustain the burden of proving a violation. (Emphasis added.)

Comment, Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981). The gravamen of the "look-alike nature" of "imitation controlled substances," including powders and liquids, according to the Prefatory Note of the Model Act, is that the

substance "resemble or . . . duplicate the appearance of well-known controlled substances," but most contain, instead of the controlled substance, any one or a combination of non-controlled over-the-counter drugs, usually stimulants or appetite suppressants.

. . . [T]he look-alike ingredients have a legitimate medical use, they are found in many of the more common over-the-counter products and when used as directed, they are generally not harmful.

Prefatory Note, Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981). The baking soda sold in this case was not a substance which, when ingested, would cause the consumer to experience an effect similar to but less severe than the effect of the controlled substance it was "manufactured" (§ 58-37B-2(3)) to imitate. Thus, it was not within the intent nor scope of the statute. A contrasting example is that of a tablet or capsule containing caffeine which is manufactured to resemble a controlled substance such as an amphetamine. Similarly, if the substitute substance appellant sold to the undercover agent had been composed of a white powder containing, in part, caffeine or ephedrine, then the baking soda would have been an "imitation controlled substance."

The problems at which the Imitation Controlled Substance Act is aimed are described in the Prefatory Note to the Model Act as follows:

Look-alikes are touted as being completely safe and legal and consumers are advised to take several in order to get the full effect. Of course, the danger to a child who has been ingesting five or six caffeine pills and attempts the same thing with real amphetamines one day is obvious. More insidious is the growing climate of acceptance of these substances among students as their sale and use become widespread. Of immediate concern, however, are recent reports of hospital emergencies and even overdose deaths caused solely by ingestion of look-alikes.

Prefatory Note, Model Imitation Controlled Substances Act (1981). Appellant's contention that the Imitation Controlled Substances Act, by statutory language, universally governs all conduct involving imitation controlled substances is unfounded. When read in conjunction with the Prefatory Note and Comment, the Act clearly specifies what kinds of substances it governs, and simple baking soda, under the facts of this case, falls outside the scope of the act.

The Imitation Controlled Substances Act also clearly specifies what conduct it proscribes. Contrary to appellant's conclusion, there is no express or implied reference in § 58-37b-4 to the act of selling substances to unknowing buyers with the intent to deceptively steal their money. This specific intent requirement is, however, found in the Theft by Deception statute which states in pertinent part:

(1) A person commits theft if he obtains money or exercises control over property of another by deception and with a purpose to deprive him thereof.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-405 (1978).

Thus, because the baking soda is not an "imitation controlled substance" as contemplated by the Imitation Controlled Substances Act, and because appellant's conduct does not fall within the scope of the Act, § 58-37b-4 does not provide a more specific interdiction of appellant's conduct. Section 58-37b-4 simply does not apply to appellant's conduct, and therefore, no conflict exist between § 58-37b-4 and § 76-6-405 under the facts of this case.

Absent any conflict between the statutes appellant discusses, this Court need not address the question of whether Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-19 (1953) would be applicable to the Imitation Controlled Substances Act, the later enacted subchapter of the Controlled Substances Act (Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-1 et seq. (1953)). Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-19 (1953) provides as follows:

It is the purpose of this act to regulate and control the substances designated within section 58-37-4, and whenever the requirements prescribed, the offenses defined or the penalties imposed relating to substances controlled by this act shall be or appear to be in conflict with Title 58, Chapter 17 or any other laws of this state, the provisions of this act shall be controlling. (Emphasis added.)

Section 58-37-19 does not prohibit the use of provisions found elsewhere in the Utah Code in all cases. Only when the use of external provisions creates a conflict with the Controlled Substances Act are the external provisions superseded. In the

instant case, the statute under which appellant seeks a lesser sentence does not apply to his conduct, and therefore, it is not in conflict with the statute under which appellant was appropriately charged, convicted, and sentenced.

The gravamen of appellant's appeal is that because his conduct is more specifically defined and proscribed by § 58-37b-4, that statute is controlling, and therefore, he was improperly charged under § 76-6-405. Appellant's argument fails because the statute he refers to does not apply to his conduct. Therefore, appellant's the conviction and sentence must be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, respond requests that this Court affirm the conviction and sentence for Theft by Deception.